IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RANDALL LEE DAHL,

Electronically Filed Jan 27 2022 11:35 a.m. No. 83489 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in Case Number CR15-0747
The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada
The Honorable Scott N. Freeman, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JOHN L. ARRASCADA
Washoe County Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 4517
JOHN REESE PETTY
Chief Deputy Public Defender
Washoe County Public Defender
Nevada State Bar N. 10
350 South Center Street, 5th Floor
Reno, Nevada 89501
jpetty@washoecounty.gov

(775) 337-4827

Attorneys for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed a criminal judgment of conviction on August 10, 2021. 1JA 49-50 (Judgment of Conviction). On September 9, 2021, Appellant, Randall Lee Dahl (Mr. Dahl), timely filed a notice of appeal from that judgment. 1JA 51-52 (Notice of Appeal). This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) and NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it involves a jury-based conviction of a category A offense. See NRAP 17(b)(2)(A) (exempting category A jury-based felony convictions from presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals). The Supreme Court may, however, assign this appeal to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b), which authorizes the Supreme Court to assign to the Court of Appeals any case filed in the Supreme Court, except those matters

¹ "JA" stands for the Joint Appendix. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c)(1). The number preceding "JA" represents the volume number. Note, the reporter's pages 7 through 177 of the June 7, 2021 trial transcript have not been included in the Joint Appendix because the topic there was jury selection and there are no jury selection issues on appeal.

specifically assigned for disposition to the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a).

III. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether instances of prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument —most not objected to—warrant reversal and a new trial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction. On May 13, 2015, the State charged Mr. Dahl with one count of open murder, a violation of NRS 200.010, a category A felony. 1JA 1-3 (Indictment). On June 9, 2021, a jury found Mr. Dahl guilty of second degree murder. 1JA 41 (Verdict); 3JA 420-21 (Transcript of Proceedings: Trial).² The district court imposed a sentence of life in the Nevada Department of Corrections with the possibility of parole beginning after a minimum of ten years have been served. The district court credited Mr. Dahl 2,435 days in predisposition custody. 1JA 49-50 (Judgment of Conviction). Mr. Dahl appeals his conviction. 1JA 51-527 (Notice of Appeal).

///

January 26, 2022).

² Multiple competency proceedings took place over the interim. <u>See https://wceflex.washoecourts.com/notify/cmsFullHistory.html?pageAction=QueryCmsFullHist&caseNumber=CR15-0747&companyId=1&courtLocation=&myCaseMode=No (last visited)</u>

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Early on the morning of December 10, 2014, Jeffery Hoyt, a police officer for the City of Reno, went to the Reno Event Center in downtown Reno in response to a call of a possible deceased person in a wheelchair. 2JA 93-95, 101.3 The Reno Event Center is located at the intersection of Fourth and Center Streets. When Officer Hoyt arrived he saw a deceased male sitting in a wheelchair "at the top of the steps leading into the event center." 2JA 95, 101-02. He had no pants or underwear and had a towel over his legs. A jacket was over his right shoulder. His right eye was swollen shut. 2JA 95, 98. REMSA arrived shortly afterwards. 2JA 95-96, 99. Officer Hoyt called the medical examiner's office. 2JA 99. And Officer Hoyt's sergeant, who had arrived after Officer Hoyt, notified the detective division. 2JA 100.

Michael Bergman, a Medical/Legal Death Investigator and Forensic Autopsy Technician at the Washoe County Regional Medical Examiner's Office, arrived in response to Officer Hoyt's call. He

³ An Event Center security officer had contacted the police. 2JA 104. See 2JA 140-54 (Ed Flagg, site supervisor for the National Bowling Stadium and Reno Events Center). Mr. Flagg also later turned over security video to the police that depicted Mr. Dahl pushing the person in a wheelchair, leaving the body where it was found, and then walking away, northbound. 2JA 141-42, 144-48.

observed a deceased individual seated in a wheelchair covered with a sheet.⁴ He had some "fairly extensive injuries." 2JA 106, 109. By the Mr. Bergman arrived the paramedics had pronounced Mr. Gardner dead and had already left. 2JA 109-10, 124-25. Mr. Gardner's body was transported to the Medical Examiner's Office. 2JA 111-12. An autopsy of Mr. Gardner concluded that the cause of his death was asphyxia due to traumatic compression of the neck and that the manner of death was homicide. 3JA 315, 337.

Meanwhile, Reno Police Detective Dan Maher, who had watched security videos from the Event Center, decided to contact the manager at the Flamingo Motel (an overnight or weekly downtown motel) since it was located on Center Street just north of the event center, which was the direction the man who parked the wheelchair had headed. 2JA 154-56, 159-61, 162, 163, 185. The manager in turn directed him to Mr. Dahl's room at the motel. 2JA 161-62.

Detective Maher and his partner, Detective Brouker, knocked on the door. Mr. Dahl answered the door and let them in. 2JA 163. 186. The room was small with a bathroom and bedroom. Detective Maher

⁴ The deceased individual was later identified as John Gardner, fiftyone years old. 2JA 129.

asked Mr. Dahl about Mr. Gardner. Mr. Dahl initially indicated that he didn't know him but that they had been drinking the day before and that Mr. Gardner had left to get more beer but never returned. 2JA 165-66. Later, after Detective Brouker had discovered "quite a bit of blood staining inside the bathroom," Mr. Dahl told the detective that actually he and Mr. Gardner had been drinking and that they had gotten into a physical fight regarding a person named Glenn who had stayed with Mr. Dahl a few days earlier. Mr. Dahl said that Glenn had been drinking with Mr. Dahl in his motel room. At one point while intoxicated Glenn went into Mr. Dahl's bathroom after defecating in his pants. He then took off his underwear and threw them against a wall. 2JA 169, 172-73. When Mr. Dahl told Mr. Gardner this story, Mr. Gardner called him "a faggot" and that set Mr. Dahl off; he snapped or lost it. 2JA 189. Mr. Dahl said he hit Mr. Gardner "anywhere from three to five times with his fist in and about the head." 2JA 168-70, 172-73, 178, 189. They were both drunk and Mr. Dahl reacted in anger. Id., and 2JA 193-94 (noting that being called "a faggot" had irritated Mr. Dahl and his intoxication level didn't help). Mr. Dahl told that detective

⁵ Mr. Dahl did not mention grabbing Mr. Gardner by the throat of choking him. 2JA 177, 180.

that Mr. Gardner "went out" after he hit him and he draped him over the bathtub and left him there. He said he checked on him. When he realized that Mr. Gardner was dead he panicked and didn't know what to do. So he pushed him in his wheelchair to the Events Center and left him there. 2JA 173-74, 189.6

At this point Detective Maher gave Mr. Dahl his *Miranda* warnings and Mr. Dahl agreed to continue speaking with the detective. Mr. Dahl was transported to the Reno Police Station for additional questioning. 2JA 174-77, 191. Later, Mr. Dahl was transported back to Center Street to assist other detectives in locating a bag he had discarded in a trash can that had clothing in it. 2JA 181-82, 194, 233-37, 244, 255-60. Several empty alcohol bottles were found in Mr. Dahl's room. 2JA 217-18.

Mr. Dahl told Detective Maher "But I didn't intend any of that to happen." 2JA 197. Mr. Dahl elected not to testify. 3JA 355. The jury found Mr. Dahl guilty of second degree murder. 3JA 420-21.

///

⁶ Mr. Gardner was using a wheelchair because a few months earlier he had been hit by a car and had incurred broken bones and other injuries. 2JA 128-29; 3JA 286-90.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State charged open murder leaving open the possibility of the jury returning a guilty verdict for either first degree murder, second degree murder, manslaughter, or involuntary manslaughter. The jury could also find Mr. Dahl not guilty. The State pursued a first degree murder verdict. Evidence presented at trial supported a verdict far less severe than first degree murder.

In his closing argument the prosecutor committed four acts of unobjected to misconduct by inviting the jury to speak for (or be the conscious of) the community; by indirectly commenting on Mr. Dahl's election not to testify; by disparaging defense tactics; and by suggesting that the presumption of innocence no longer applied. Additionally, the prosecutor committed one act of objected to misconduct by suggesting that the jury need not be unanimous in its second degree verdict if it came to that.

Although these instances of misconduct may not, when considered individually, warrant a new trial, collectively they do in order to provide Mr. Dahl a fair trial and proper verdict.

///

VII. ARGUMENT

Several instances of prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument —most not objected to—warrant reversal and a new trial.

Additional Facts

During his closing argument the prosecutor:

- Invited the jury to speak for (or be the conscious of) the community—the jury's "job" is to "make justice happen for John Gardner, and the people of this community who say you can't just cold-bloodedly murder someone and get away with it." 3JA 363;
- Indirectly commented on Mr. Dahl's election not to testify—

 "The evidence has proven that this occurred with malice
 aforethought, either express, express means I'm going to kill
 you, I'm going to choke you to death, you hear some evidence.

 You didn't hear any of that because the only thing we know
 about what happened in that room, the only witness that's here
 is the defendant. Live witness." 3JA 367;
- Disparaged defense tactics by misstating her opening statement—"I will remind you that the defense in their opening statement, Ms. Bradley, said 'This isn't murder in the

first degree', that's what she said. I wrote it down. Notice she didn't say it wasn't murder. Because it is. She didn't say it wasn't manslaughter, or was manslaughter, she just said 'this wasn't murder in the first degree." 3JA 371, and 377 ("But don't ever forget the defense in their opening statement didn't deny this was a murder");

• Mislead the jury on concept of "unanimity."—"You start with first degree murder. If you all agree to that, you just sign that verdict guilty, and you're done. If you can't all agree to that, but you agree it's a murder, then you look at second degree murder and the definition. If half of you believe it's first and half of you agree it's second and you can't come to a determination, he's still guilty of murder and then you would have to find him guilty of second degree murder." 3JA 376-77;7 and,

⁷ Defense counsel objected that the prosecutor had misstated the law because "[t]he requirement is unanimity." The district court sustained the objection. 3JA 377. In his closing argument defense counsel discussed the step-down instruction and noted that the open murder charge included murder and manslaughter concepts and commented that "you don't call a 50/50 split" a verdict "has to be agreed to by all 12." 3JA 406-07. In giving the case to the jury the district court advised,

Suggested that the presumption of innocence no longer applied—"[Y]ou're presumed innocent until proven guilty. But when you hear the evidence in a case, it's that evidence that pulls that cloak off that person presumed innocence, and what's underneath that cloak, in this case a man guilty of first degree murder. That's what the evidence showed." 3JA 377-78 (paragraph break omitted).

Standard of Review

When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct this Court must first determine "whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper" and, if so, must then "determine whether the improper misconduct warrants reversal." *Valdez v. State*, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008) (footnote omitted). Preserved claims of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed under a harmless-error standard. "When an error has not been preserved, this court employs plain-error review." *Id.* at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (footnotes omitted).

///

///

[&]quot;You must come to a unanimous verdict, that means each one of you must agree." 3JA 515.

Discussion

Inviting the jury to make justice for the victim and for the community

In Haberstroh v. State, 105 Nev. 739, 742, 782 P.2d 1343, 1345 (1989), this Court found that the prosecutor had committed prosecutorial misconduct by referring to the jury as "the conscience of the community." The Court did not find prejudice because the district court admonished the jury to "disregard the statement." See also, Snow v. State, 101 Nev. 439, 447, 705 P.2d 632, 638 (1985). No such admonition was given in this case after the prosecutor invited the jury to do its "job" and make justice happen for the victim and "the people of this community who say you can't just cold-bloodedly murder someone and get away with it." Stated differently, the prosecutor asked the jury to return a verdict acceptable to "the people of the community" and not based on the evidence. See State v. Reynolds, 95 A.3d 973, 983 (Vt. 2014) ("A call for justice may be acceptable when it is directed to the jurors' duty to do justice in a general sense. However, an appeal to the jurors to do justice on behalf of the victim or the local community is generally viewed as unprofessional and improper.") (citations omitted); State v. Schumacher, 322 P.3d 1016, 1024 (Kan. 2014) ("... we reiterate

that a prosecutor cannot ask the jury to convict a defendant in order to give the victim justice.") (citations omitted).

Commenting on election not to testify

In Harkness v. State, 107 Nev. 800, 820 P.2d 759 (1991), this Court said: "[t]he United States Constitution states that a defendant shall not be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself. A direct reference to the defendant's decision not to testify is always a violation of the fifth amendment. When a reference is indirect, the test for determining whether prosecutorial comment constitutes a constitutionally impermissible reference to a defendant's failure to testify is whether 'the language used was manifestly intended to be or was of such character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be comment on the defendant's failure to testify. The standard for determining whether such remarks are prejudicial is whether the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." 107 Nev. at 803, 820 P.2d at 761 (quotations and citations omitted).

Here, the prosecutor argued that the jury did not hear from Mr. Dahl as a "live witness" even though he was "the only witness that's here." As noted above, Mr. Dahl elected not to testify. The jury was

instructed that a defendant may not be compelled to "take the stand and testify" and that no inference may be drawn from the fact that a defendant does not testify. 1JA 38 (Jury Instruction No. 32). The prosecutor's indirect comments constituted an improper reference to Mr. Dahl's election not to testify. The State may argued that the prosecutor was only commenting on the evidence. But as noted in Harkness, "the test is whether the prosecutor "manifestly intended" it or whether "the jury would naturally and necessarily" take it to be a comment on the accused's failure to testify." Id. (italics in the original, citations omitted). Taken in context—characterizing Mr. Dahl as the only living (and non-testifying) witness—it is clear that "the jury would have taken the prosecutor's comments to be references to appellant's silence." Id.

Disparaging defense counsel and tactics

"Disparaging remarks directed toward defense counsel have absolutely no place in a courtroom, and clearly constitute misconduct. And it is not only improper to disparage defense counsel personally, but also to disparage legitimate defense tactics." Butler v.

State, 120 Nev. 879, 898, 102 P.3d 71, 84 (2004) (quotations and footnotes omitted).

"Randall Dahl did not mean to kill anyone." So began defense counsel's opening statement. See 2JA 88. After covering what she expected the evidence to show, including that Mr. Dahl, who had been drinking for days, "was approached and followed by a man who called him a faggot, and he [rashly] reacted," counsel said "at the end of the trial. we're going to ask that you find Mr. Dahl not guilty of first degree murder." 2JA 89. Because the State had charged open murder the jury could find Mr. Dahl not guilty of any crime or guilty of first degree murder or of any lesser included offense of first degree murder. The jury adequately instructed on this point. See 1JA 24-36 Jury Instructions No. 21 through 29). While defense counsel argued against a verdict of first degree murder, she did not argue for a verdict of second murder. Yet, that is precisely what the prosecutor told the jury she had done. "I will remind you that the defense in their opening statement, Ms. Bradley, said 'This isn't murder in the first degree', that's what she said. I wrote it down. Notice she didn't say it wasn't murder. Because it is. She didn't say it wasn't manslaughter, or was manslaughter, she just said 'this wasn't murder in the first degree."

The prosecutor's blatant mischaracterization of defense counsel's argument was meant to disparage it while, at the same time, serving to mislead the jury away from any consideration of the verdicts for manslaughter (voluntary or involuntary). Given evidence of Mr. Dahl's rash drunk reaction to being called a faggot, heat of passion, as defined in Jury Instruction 28, 1JA 32-33, was certainly in play as were the manslaughter verdicts. Yet, the prosecutor's mischaracterization of the defense argument invited the jury to view this case as only a murder case with the heavy implication that defense counsel were in agreement with that assessment when they were not. *Cf.* 1JA 42-48 (unused verdicts).

Presumption of innocence

In *Morales v. State*, 122 Nev. 966, 972, 143 P.3d 463, 467 (2006) (alteration in the original), the prosecutor told the jury that "Morales was cloaked with a presumption of innocence at the beginning of trial but, because the State satisfied its burden in demonstrating that he committed the crimes, 'there [was] no presumption of innocence

anymore." Defense counsel did not object. Nonetheless, this Court concluded that this error rose "to the level of plain error." Continuing, this Court said while here "this argument, alone, does not compel reversal" it cautioned "Nevada prosecutors that this sort of argument is always improper." Adding, "[a] prosecutor may suggest that the presumption of innocence had been overcome; however, a prosecutor may never properly suggest that the presumption of innocence no longer applies to a defendant." Id. (italics added, footnote omitted). Indeed, the presumption of innocence carries into the jury room during deliberations. Pagano v. Allard, 218 F.Supp.2d 26, 33 (D. Mass. 2002) ("The presumption of innocence, which is afforded to every criminal defendant brought to trial in this country, does not 'come off' during the prosecutor's closing argument, but remains with the defendant until the jury determines that the government has proven each and every element of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt.").

Here the prosecutor acknowledged the presumption of innocence but characterized it as "cloak" that gets pulled off to reveal a guilty defendant, or in this case, "a man guilty of first degree murder" before the jury has begun its deliberations. It is one thing to suggest that the presumption of innocence "had been overcome" by the evidence, it is quite another to assert it no longer exists.

Unanimous verdicts

Unlike the instances of prosecutorial misconduct discussed above, here defense did object and the district court sustained the objection. And, as noted, the district court also told the jury as it was about to begin deliberations that its verdict had to be unanimous. Generally, jurors are required to be unanimous. Of course, where the State proceeds on alternative theories of first-degree murder (felony murder and willful, deliberate, and premeditated first-degree murder) the jury need not unanimously agree on a single theory of the murder. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 750, 121 P.3d 582, 586 (2005). But that is not the case where, as here, the State charged one count of open murder. See also 1JA 35-36 (Jury Instruction 30) (a step-down instruction noting necessity of unanimous agreement on any verdict reached whether it is of first degree murder, second degree murder, manslaughter, or involuntary manslaughter). See 1JA 42-48 (unused verdicts).

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