IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RANDALL LEE DAHL,

No. 83489

Electronically Filed Feb 25 2022 10:04 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JOHN L. ARRASCADA Washoe County Public Defender

JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender 350 South Center Street, 5th floor Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

Washoe County District Attorney

KEVIN NAUGHTON Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

V. DISCUSSION

A. <u>Unobjected-to allegations of prosecutorial misconduct.</u>

"To establish plain error, 'an appellant must demonstrate that: (1) there was an 'error'; (2) the error is 'plain,' meaning that it is clear under current law from a casual inspection of the record; and (3) the error affected the defendant's substantial rights." Flowers v. State, 136 Nev. 1, 8, 456 P.3d 1037, 1045 (2020) quoting Jeremias v. State, 134 Nev. 46, 50, 412 P.3d 43, 48 (2018).

1. Asking the jury to do its job and "make justice happen for John Gardner, and the people of this community...."

Dahl claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by inviting "the jury to do its 'job' and make justice happen for the victim and 'the people of this community who say you can't just cold-bloodedly murder someone and get away with it." Opening Brief, p. 12. It is necessary to consider the full context of the statement made by the prosecutor. Rose, *supra*.

///

The prosecutor explained that "[e]veryone here in the courtroom has a job." 3JA 363. He explained the different roles of the prosecutor, the defense attorney, and the judge, before telling the jury:

But the most important job of all is your job. Because what you say and what your decision is is the truth of this case. Now, it's your turn, it's gonna be your turn to do your job and make justice happen for John Gardner, and the people of this community who say you can't just cold-bloodedly murder somebody and get away with it. What you say will be the truth in this case.

Id.

The prosecutor went on to offer an anecdote wherein another attorney told him that "a jury is never wrong." 3JA 363-64. Even in instances where the prosecutor disagreed with a jury's verdict, "the more I thought about it, he was exactly right because what you say, that is the truth of the case." 3JA 364. "Your verdict will be the final statement of the truth, whatever you say is what's right." *Id*.

Dahl takes this statement to mean that the prosecutor urged the jury to ignore the evidence and return a verdict acceptable to the community. Dahl cites to <u>Haberstroh v. State</u> as an example where a prosecutor committed misconduct by referring to the jury as "the conscience of the community." 105 Nev. 739, 742, 782 P.2d 1343, 1345 (1989). However, the Nevada Supreme Court has also held that a prosecutor does not commit misconduct by telling the jury that it must be "accountable" and to "do the

right thing." <u>Domingues v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 683, 698, 917 P.2d 1364, 1375 (1996).

Under plain error review, it is not at all clear that the prosecutor's statement is an error. The context of the statement, which must be considered pursuant to <u>Rose</u>, clearly shows that the prosecutor did not tell the jury that they were the "conscience of the community," but instead that it was their turn to do their job and that their verdict, "whatever you say is what's right." 3JA 364. The prosecutor did not improperly suggest that the jury should disregard the evidence in this case and convict Dahl of first degree murder because that's what the community expected. He exhorted the jury to do their job and told them that they had the final say.

Even if the Court disagrees and finds that the prosecutor's argument was prejudicial, Dahl is not entitled to any relief because of the strength of the State's case, as explained more fully in the harmless error analysis below.

2. Commenting on Dahl's decision not to testify.

"A direct comment on a defendant's failure to testify is a per se violation of the Fifth Amendment." <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 132 Nev. 309, 325, 371 P.3d 1036, 1046-47 (2016) *citing* <u>Harkness v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 800, 803, 820 P.2d 759, 761 (1991). "However, an indirect comment violates the

defendant's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination only if the comment 'was manifestly intended to be or was of such a character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be comment on the defendant's failure to testify." *Id*.

In <u>Harkness</u>, the prosecutor asked, "whose fault is it if we don't know the facts in this case?" 107 Nev. at 802, 820 P.2d at 760. The Nevada Supreme Court noted that such a question, highlighting gaps in the evidence and assigning responsibility for those gaps to the defendant, "is something the jury would 'naturally and necessarily' take to be a comment on the accused's failure to testify." *Id* at 804, 820 P.2d at 761. As a result, the Court found that the prosecutor had violated the defendant's Fifth Amendment right.

In <u>Taylor</u>, the prosecutor said:

There has to be a rational explanation for the evidence.... I challenge you to come up with a reasonable explanation of the truth if it does not involve the guilt of Donald Lee Taylor....

... I submit to you that there's at least one person in this room who knows beyond a shadow of a doubt who killed ... Pearson. And I submit to you if you're doing your duty and you're doing your job, you'll go back in that room and you'll come back here and you'll tell that person you know, too.

132 Nev. at 325, 371 P.3d at 1047. There, the Court held that, "[a]lthough the comments by the prosecutor indirectly referenced Taylor's failure to

testify, unlike the comments in <u>Harkness</u> that blamed the defendant for the lack of information about what had happened in that case, neither comment here 'was manifestly intended to be or was such a character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be comment on the defendant's failure to testify." <u>Id</u> at 325-26, 371 P.3d at 1047 *quoting* <u>Harkness</u>, *supra*.

Dahl claims that the prosecutor indirectly commented on his failure to testify, asserting that "the prosecutor argued that the jury did not hear from Mr. Dahl as a 'live witness' even though he was 'the only witness that's here." Opening Brief, p. 13. However, the context of the statement provides more information and fully expresses the prosecutor's line of argument:

The evidence has proven that this occurred with malice aforethought, either express, express means I'm gonna kill you, I'm gonna choke you to death, you hear some evidence. You didn't hear any of that because the only thing we know about what happened in that room, the only witness that's here is the defendant. Live witness. But John Gardner's the witness who was in that room, too, even though he's dead, because his body is a witness. And malice can be implied. And when you look at those photographs of the beating he took, and the trauma to his neck, that is an implication, that is implied that he had a murderous intent to do that to another human being. So that's been proven.

3JA 367-68.

The full context of the prosecutor's remarks show that the prosecutor was not seeking to blame Dahl for a lack of information about what happened in the motel room between himself and the victim. Instead, the prosecutor sought to explain that the victim's body, and the injuries it showed, bore witness to Dahl's intent to kill. Although the prosecutor indirectly commented on Dahl's failure to testify, the context of his statements would not have led the jury to "naturally and necessarily take it to be comment on the defendant's failure to testify." Taylor, *supra*. The prosecutor expressly explained that despite the absence of any direct evidence of Dahl's intent, the victim's body could fill that in. As a result, Dahl has failed to demonstrate plain error on this ground.

Finally, the jury was properly instructed on Dahl's right not to testify on his own behalf and juries are presumed to follow their instructions. *See* Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333-34, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006). At the start of the trial, the court told the jurors that:

This is a criminal case, and there are two basic rules you must keep in mind. First, the defendant is presumed innocent unless and until proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant is not required to present any evidence or prove his innocence. The law never imposes upon a defendant in a criminal case the burden of calling any witnesses or introducing any evidence. 2JA 72. And at the end of the trial, the jury was instructed that "[t]he law does not compel a defendant in a criminal case to take the stand and testify, and no presumption of any kind may be drawn, [sic] from the failure of a defendant to testify." 1JA 38. As the jury was properly instructed, this Court can presume that they followed those instructions regardless of any comments made by the prosecutor.

3. Disparaging defense tactics.

"Disparaging remarks directed toward defense counsel 'have absolutely no place in a courtroom, and clearly constitute misconduct."

Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 898, 102 P.3d 71, 84 (2004) *quoting* McGuire v. State, 100 Nev. 153, 158, 677 P.2d 1060, 1063-64 (1984). "And it is not only improper to disparage defense counsel personally, but also to disparage legitimate defense tactics." *Id* (citations omitted).

Dahl asserts that the prosecutor disparaged defense counsel's argument by mischaracterizing a remark made during opening statements. Defense counsel concluded her opening remarks by telling the jury that "at the end of this trial, we're going to ask that you find Mr. Dahl not guilty of first degree murder." 2JA 90.

In closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury:

Now, when you're considering whether it's first degree or second degree murder, I will remind you that the defense in

their opening statement, Ms. Bradley, said 'This isn't murder in the first degree", that's what she said. I wrote it down. Notice she didn't say this wasn't murder. Because it is. She didn't say it wasn't manslaughter, or was manslaughter, she just said 'this wasn't murder in the first degree'. No denial this is a murder so you have to decide whether this is a first or second degree murder.

3JA 371.

The record plainly shows that the prosecutor restated defense counsel's statement that "we're going to ask that you find Mr. Dahl not guilty of first degree murder," as "[n]o denial this is a murder...." At worst, this is a mischaracterization, but it is hardly disparaging. Dahl has failed to identify any authority that suggests that a misstatement of defense strategy rises to the level of disparagement.

Comparing the prosecutor's remarks to previous examples of disparagement illustrate the difference. In <u>Butler</u>, the Court held that "the State used many adjectives and analogies in these remarks that portrayed Butler's presentation of mitigating evidence and defense tactics as a dirty technique in an attempt to fool and distract the jury, implying that Butler's counsel acted unethically in his defense - this was a form of disparagement of counsel." 120 Nev. at 898, 102 P.3d at 84. In <u>McGuire</u>, the prosecutor made a comment for which the Court "can discern no purpose for the

statement other than as an attempt to belittle defense counsel in front of the jury." 100 Nev. at 157, 677 P.2d at 1064.

The prosecutor's statement here does not rise to the level of suggesting that defense counsel had acted unethically, underhanded, or showing that the prosecutor sought to belittle defense counsel. Instead, it was a comment pointing out that the defense strategy appeared to be aimed only at defending against first degree murder. In fact, in their closing argument, defense counsel agreed that the prosecutor was "correct that we were explicit in opening statement this is not a first degree murder case."

3JA 396. Therefore, Dahl has failed to demonstrate plain error.

4. Presumption of innocence

"A prosecutor may suggest that the presumption of innocence has been overcome; however, a prosecutor may never properly suggest that the presumption no longer applies to the defendant." Morales v. State, 122

Nev. 966, 972, 143 P.3d 463, 467 (2006).

Here, Dahl claims that the prosecutor improperly suggested that the presumption of innocence "no longer exists." Opening Brief, pp. 17-18. The prosecutor's comments regarding the presumption of innocence, in full, were:

Now, Ms. Bradley indicated to you in her opening statement that the defendant is cloaked in innocence. And that's the way it is in every trial, that's the way our system is, you're presumed innocent until proven guilty.

But when you hear the evidence in a case, it's that evidence that pulls that cloak off that person presumed innocence, [sic] and what's underneath that cloak, in this case a man guilty of first degree murder. That's what the evidence showed.

2JA 377-78.

The prosecutor did not argue that the presumption of innocence did not apply to Dahl or that it no longer applied to Dahl. Instead, he argued that the evidence that had been presented had overcome the presumption of innocence. That type of argument was specifically acknowledged as permissible in <u>Morales</u>.

Again, the jury was properly instructed on this point and they are presumed to follow their instructions. *See* Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333-34, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006). At the beginning of the trial, the court told the jury that "[t]his is a criminal case, and there are two basic rules you must keep in mind. First, the defendant is presumed innocent unless and until proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant is not required to present any evidence or prove his innocence." 2JA 72. And at the end of the trial, the jury was instructed that "[e]very person charged with the commission of a crime shall be presumed innocent unless the contrary is proved by competent evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. The burden rests upon the prosecution to establish every element of the crime

with which the defendant is charged beyond a reasonable doubt." 1JA 14.

Thus, Dahl has failed to demonstrate plain error.

B. Objected-to allegation of prosecutorial misconduct.

Preserved instances of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed under harmless-error review and "this court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error." <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188-90, 196 P.3d 465, 476-77 (2008).

Dahl argues that the State misstated the rule regarding unanimous jury verdicts. The State agrees. However, the error was immediately objected to, with an explanation from defense counsel that "[t]he requirement is unanimity." 3JA 377. Moreover, after the parties concluded their closing arguments, the trial court told the jury that it "must come to a unanimous verdict, that means each one of you must agree." 3JA 415. And the jury was given the appropriate transition instruction that informed them that they must unanimously agree to convict Dahl on a degree of homicide and that if they do not, they should proceed to consider the next offense. 1JA 35-36; *see also* Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 80 P.3d 93 (2003) (approving the "unable to agree" instruction used in this case). Because the jury was properly instructed, the error in the prosecutor's statement was harmless.

C. Harmless error

Even if this Court finds that the prosecutor's statements in closing argument amounted to prosecutorial misconduct, any such error was harmless given the overwhelming evidence in this case. In <u>King v. State</u>, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that prosecutorial misconduct can be harmless where there is overwhelming evidence of a defendant's guilt. 116 Nev. 349, 356-57, 998 P.2d 1172, 1176-77 (2000).

Here, there was overwhelming evidence of Dahl's guilt. Dahl was seen on video wheeling Mr. Gardner's partially dressed body and leaving it outside the Reno Events Center during the freezing early morning hours of December 10, 2014. 2JA 94-95, 144-45, 147-48, 151, 160, 163. Mr. Gardner had obvious injuries on his face and head. 2JA 103, 149. Officers followed Dahl's path, as seen on the video, back to the Flamingo motel where they contacted him. 2JA 160-163. Dahl was wearing the same distinctive redorange ski pants as seen on the video. 2JA 163.

Dahl initially denied knowing why detectives were there and said that he had not seen the victim since he allegedly left his room the night before.

2JA 165-66. Dahl also claimed that he had not been out of his room that morning. 2JA 166. Dahl denied knowing anything about video depicting

someone wheeling a man in a wheelchair to the Reno Events Center and leaving him there. 2JA 166-67.

Dahl then changed his story and told detectives that there had been an altercation between himself and the victim in his room before the victim left his room the night before to get more alcohol. 2JA 167. At that point, one of the detectives noticed blood inside the bathroom. 2JA 168. Dahl denied that anyone had been injured in the room. *Id*.

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